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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL. APPEARANCE

The City Hall/County Courthouse was constructed during the years 
between 1889 and 1905 according to designs by the Minneapolis architectur 
firm of Long and Kees fcnli at a cost of over $3,000,000. Design sources 
indicate strong influences of Henry HobsojjxRichardson's Allegheny County 
Courthouse at Pittsburgh (1883-87). Long and Kees 1 interpretation of 
the Richardsonian Romanesque style as used in Pittsburgh was "westernized 
to create a more complex composition which was less unified in the 
relationship among its parts and more structurally open on the basement 
(or street level) storey.

The structure occupies the entire block bounded by Third and Fourth 
Avenues South and Fourth and Fifth Streets. It is 300 feet square, 
surrounds an open court 130 feet square, is five storeys in height and 
is surmounted by a tower which rises 400 feet above the pavement 
(measuring to the tip of the flagstaff). Tfiis 3 tower is fifty feet square 
and like the rest of the building is constructed of red/pink Ortonville 
granite. At the apex of the tower roof is an observatory which is 335 
feet above the street and from which the majority of late nineteenth 
and early twentieth century photographs of Minneapolis were taken. Until 
the construction of the Foshay Tower a few blocks to the South of the 
courthouse, this tower offered the highest and best view of the city.

About one hundred feet below the observatory is the clock. It has 
*four dials which are twenty three feet four inches in diameter and were 
acclaimed by Hudson's Dictionary of Minneapolis in 1916 to have been the 
largest in the world when built.

A second tower, though a great deal less in height marks the cen­ 
trally located arched entry to the Fifth Street face of the building. 
The high clock tower marks the similarly central location of the 
Fourth Street arched entry. The central entry is flanked at corners 
by steep-roofed pavilions, each with wall dormers and corner turrets? 
Typical of the Richardsonian design is the rustication of exterior 
masonry and series of arches extending more than one storey in height. 
Formerly, the roof was of heavily textured slate, however, this has 
been replaced several decades ago by sheet copper.

The interior of the building is finished in a simple, but handsome 
style. Quarter-sawn oak is used throughout the offices and courtrooms, 
and in the halls there is marble wainscoting and tiled and mosaic floors. 
The structure is totally fireproof; in the construction of the interior 
only steel and iron, brick, and hollow tile are used.

The most impressive interior space is the light court five storeys 
in height and entered from Fourth Street. The southern wall and 
ceiling di-splay a profusion of elaborately designed stained glass. The 
court Is $urro'unide:d on tKfee 'sides by arcaded storeys linked :by 
filigree iron stairs. In the center of the court is the famous statue 
of MISSISSIPPI-Father of Waters by sculptor, Larkin G. Mead of Florence,
Italy which was presented to the city in 19/3^.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

In 1853, four years after the first session of court was held in 
Saint Anthony, the territorial legislature passed an act directing that 
two terms of court be held each year in Hennepin County. There was at 
this time no courthouse, and the commissioners secured the use of a 
parlor and two bedrooms in the house of Anson Northrup on First Street 
near Fourth Avenue South. Until the erection of the first courthouse, 
subsequent terms were held in a frame building on Bridge Square.

The building of the first courthouse caused great commotion in the 
village owfng to rival claims of the upper and lower town. The latter 
won and the courthouse was built at Eighth Avenue South and Fourth Street. 
The first term of the district court held in the new courthouse was in 
1857. This district court had jurisdiction over thirteen counties besides 
Hennepin.

With the admission of Minnesota to statehood in 1858 came many changes 
in the courts. The judicial office was made elective and supreme judges 
ceased to serve on the district bench. Provision was made for the 
establishment of other courts at the discretion of the legislature such as 
courts of common pleas and municipal courts. Outside counties were 
gradually removed from the district.

The courthouse of 1857 was therefore outgrown at a very early date. 
Numerous additions gave temporary relief, but added to the unsightliness 
of the structure. Thus, in 1887 formal steps were taken towards the 
erection of a suitable building. The legislature of that year intrusted 
a commission with the duty of purchasing a site and erecting a building 
to be used jointly by the city and county as a courthouse and city hall. 
After some negotiation, the block bounded by Fourth and Fifth Streets and 
Third and Fourth Avenues South was secured and the work of construction 
was commenced in 1889. By 1895, the county side of the building was 
opened for use.

The plans for^rtie new courthouse were awarded after a sharp competition 
to Messrs. Long and Kees, Minneapolis architects credited with the 
design of,many notable local buildings; among them the Syndicate Block, 
the Library Building, the Masonic Temple, and the Lumber Exchange. 
Although Romanesqtre in exterior appearance, the interior system was said 
to be "elastic" in that the office arrangement could be changed at any­ 
time as all floors are supported independent of partitions.
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#7 Description

Although various offices and chambers have been modernized, the 
primary interior space - the light court - has been sensitively preserved 
and retains its design integrity. No alterations, with the exception 
of installation of the sheet copper roof, have been made to the exterior. 
The city and county are both sympathetic and encourage preservation and 
use of the building.

#8 Significance

The Minneapolis Tribune stated on 28 July 1889; that the "new Courthouse 
will be the first one of its kind in the United States constructed on 
this plan".

Judge Isaac Atwater, in his History of Minneapolis, (written during 
the construction phases of the Courthouse) stated: "Should the building 
be completed in accordance with the plans adopted, and partially executed, 
there is no question but it will surpass any building of the kind and 
purpose designed, at present existing in the United States. Indeed, 
there are not more than two or three state houses exceeding it in solidity, 
imposing architecture and expense." More than eighty years later, the 
courthouse continues to be one of the most impressive nineteenth century 
public buildings in the state and in the midwest. It continues to serve 
as both a city tyfall and county building-"although expanded spatial needs 
have required that a new building be constructed on the block to the 
south. Plans are to preserve the older structure to accommodate govern­ 
mental and business functions. In 1889 the Minneapolis Tribune suggested 
that "Minneapolis gives promise of having a hall of justice which will 
be pushed to completion without any of these prevailing irregularities
delay, jobbery and bad faith , and without carrying down to future 
generations the taint of boodle and the crumbling evidences of bad 
architecture and worse construction." The building has survived to 
declare excellent craftsmanship of design and constructionand 
flexibility in the continuation of its original planned function.
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